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RT AT A GLANCE 

Recycling Technologies is a 
leading chemical recycling 
company seeking to meet the 
growing demand for recycled 
plastic. Our ambition is to 
create a global business that 
makes it commercially and 
environmentally attractive to 
recycle virtually all plastic.

Recycling Technologies Ltd (RT)  
is a UK-based engineering 
company founded in 2011. 
Through research, engineering 
and collaboration with industry 
and academia it has developed a 
proprietary, patented technology 
to recycle plastic waste back 
into oil and monomers. RT is 
headquartered in Swindon, where 
its manufacturing facility is located. 
The company also operates a 
pilot plant near the company’s 
headquarters, allowing trials on 
input materials and technology 
upgrades to be tested. 

In 2020, RT announced the 
successful completion of its  
Series A investment round with 
Neste, the world’s leading provider 
of recycled oils and Mirova 
Natural Capital, a pioneer impact 
investor , backing RT as strategic 
investors. This has enabled the 

company to start the build of its 
first commercial-scale machine for 
Binn Farm in Scotland, due to be 
installed in 2022.

RT has established partnerships 
with major players across the value 
chain, collaborating with academia, 
governments, non-profits and 
corporates such as Neste, INEOS 
Styrolution, Total, Nestlé, Mars and 
Unilever.

RT has established 
partnerships with 
major players 
across the value 
chain...

RT has secured a total funding of 
c.£44.8 million, including c.£28.6 
million from venture capital and 
private investors and c.£16.2 million 
in grant funding and revenues. 
With a collaborative approach that 
joins interested parties across the 
plastics value chain, the company 
has established a prominent 
position in the chemical recycling 
sector at both a national and global 
level.

HEADCOUNT 
121 

 
(2019, 78)

INCOME  
£1.1M 

 
(2019, £4.9M)

EQUITY 
INVESTMENTS 

£9.4M 
 

(2019, £2.5M)

The RT7000

We have developed a patented 
machine, the RT7000, that 
recycles most household 
plastics back into Plaxx® 
– a feedstock from which 
virgin-quality plastic can be 
produced.

The RT7000 turns hard-to-
recycle plastic waste into a 
valuable chemical feedstock 
called Plaxx® which can be used 
to make virgin-quality plastic.  
The machine is modular, 
facilitating mass-production 
and easy installation anywhere 
in the world. Our target 
market is existing resource 
management companies, 
allowing them to turn waste 
plastic, which would otherwise 
be burned or landfilled, into a 
profitable revenue stream by 
selling the Plaxx back to the 
petrochemical industry. Our 
solution aims to be scalable 
and provide the lowest carbon 
footprint solution for waste 
plastic anywhere in the world.
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Mission and vision

We are a business born out of a 
global environmental crisis. We 
are convinced that a combination 
of technology, innovation and 
determination can make a true 
difference in the world we live in 
today. 

We live and breathe the ‘reduce, 
reuse, recycle’ mantra and we 
believe that plastic is a great 
material and an integral part of the 
solution to reducing our carbon 
footprint.

OUR MISSION... 
IS TO ACCELERATE THE EVOLUTION OF PLASTIC INTO  
A MORE SUSTAINABLE MATERIAL THROUGH INNOVATION  
AND TECHNICAL EXCELLENCE.

OUR VISION... 
IS TO BE A GLOBAL FORCE DRIVING POSITIVE CHANGE 
TOWARDS A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE.

Values

Our values drive everything we do. Together, we share a common 
sense of urgency, a burning passion for our planet and a strong  
belief that it does not have to be like it is today.

TRY WITH 
COURAGE

We are relentless 
innovators, fearless 
in our pursuit of 
solutions to solve 
some of the  
world’s biggest 
environmental 
problems. 

CREATE IMPACT 
WITH INTEGRITY

We are on an urgent 
mission but will  
never compromise  
on doing what is right. 
We lead by example 
– honestly, bravely, 
transparently and 
with integrity and 
sustainability at the 
heart of everything 
we do.

EMBRACE THE 
POWER OF TEAM

We are a powerful 
team made up of 
unique individuals, 
united by a common 
cause. We celebrate 
our diversity, we 
challenge each other, 
and we heartily cheer 
every small success.
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“Over the course of a challenging year RT 
demonstrated exceptional resilience and 

growth. Despite the obvious difficulties we 
continued to make progress developing our 
technology to further the global mission of 

making the circular plastic economy a reality.”

ADRIAN GRIFFITHS 
CEO
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CEO’S REVIEW

Dear Shareholders,

Words are often overused. As a consequence of COVID-19, the word 
‘unprecedented’ justifiably topped the word use charts1 in investor 
presentations this year. Given these unprecedented challenges, it is  
a testament to the resilience and professionalism of the RT team that  
against this backdrop, good progress has been made.

First and foremost, I’m delighted to say that everyone in the company  
is safe. We remain focused on protecting our staff and most of the team  
spent the greater part of the year working from home. Those who have not 
been able to work from home have established ways of working that have 
avoided any known transmission of the virus within the company, which is  
a great relief.

The successful raise of our Series A investment with Neste and Mirova in 
March, just prior to the national COVID-19 lockdowns, enabled us to begin 
the engineering and procurement of our first RT7000 machine, albeit with our 
entire engineering team working remotely. 

Our Joint Development Agreement with Neste inspired us to further  
develop our design standards, especially with respect to safety. This  
decision was carefully considered as the improvements have lengthened the 
design phase and increased the cost of the first plant, leading the company 
to seek a convertible loan. In January 2021, a further £8M has been secured 
through Neste, Mirova and the government’s Future Fund scheme. Additional 
funding is currently being sought to complete the build of our first RT7000  
in Scotland.

Operations on our pilot plant were halted during the March lockdown while 
new COVID-safe working procedures were developed. The plant resumed 
operation during the second half of the year, and we completed a series 
of runs. Whilst operations were limited due to COVID-19, we were able 
to develop and improve our training to ensure enhanced health & safety 
operations for the future. We now have a team of trained operators and 
controllers ready to commission our first RT7000 in Scotland.

Together with Unilever and Neste, the company entered the UK Research 
and Innovation’s smart sustainable plastic packaging challenge to develop  
a more sustainable plastic packaging supply chain in the UK. 

We have also continued to progress our global projects 
such as our partnership with Total, Mars, CITEO and 
Nestlé...

We were awarded £3.1M to demonstrate the feasibility of circular packaging 
using our first RT7000 machine. We have also continued to progress our 
global projects such as our partnership with Total, Mars, CITEO and Nestlé  
to demonstrate the value of feedstock recycling in France and our project 
with the Alliance to End Plastic Waste where we are looking at the feasibility 
of establishing an RT7000 in Indonesia.

Safety, Security, Health & Environment (SSHE)

Our careful attention to SSHE procedures enabled the company to achieve 
767 consecutive days without any lost time accident. Unfortunately this  
record period was sadly broken the end of the year after an incident 
which, whilst not serious, served as a reminder that there is no room for 
complacency in designing, constructing and operating a petrochemical plant.

With support from Neste and our Technical Advisory Panel, significant 
progress has been made in the way hazards are identified, examined, and 
assessed. Design processes have been improved and considerable training 
has been undertaken to ensure a professional approach is taken to all 
aspects of health and safety.

The company also went to great lengths to keep the team safe during  
the COVID-19 pandemic. An enormous effort went into developing and 
training staff in new working procedures. During the year we had two  
snap inspections from the Health and Safety Executive, both resulting in 
glowing endorsements for our new ‘COVID-safe’ ways of working.  
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Whilst unfortunately some in our team have contracted the virus, none  
have been hospitalised and there have been no known cases of transmission  
within the company. However, our thoughts go out to all those who have  
lost loved ones in their families during this difficult time.

Our aim is to continuously improve all our SSHE management systems.  
This year, our commitment to environmental stewardship was rewarded  
with ISO14001 certification by Lloyds of London. I’m grateful to everyone  
for their hard work in achieving this accolade and for the diligence shown  
in all aspects of SSHE across the company.

Technology & Manufacturing

During the second half of the year we commissioned a number of 
improvements to our pilot plant to increase the range of material that can  
be processed and to enhance our emissions and safety monitoring. The  
runs after recommissioning these enhancements presented fresh challenges, 
most have now been resolved improving the plant’s safety, emissions and 
reliability. This experience has been very valuable and is now built into the 
RT7000 design. 

The RT7000#1 detail design developed significantly during the year, with the 
supply chain fully engaged in finalising the engineering detail. The enhanced 
design process, adopted as part of our Joint Development Agreement with 
Neste, has resulted in increasing specifications and required additional 
design effort, adding time and cost to the project. Nevertheless, the business 
case remains robust and we continue to be confident about the strategy 
to mass produce machines for deployment around the world, a capability 
endorsed this year in securing our ISO9001 quality management certification. 

Our technology development capability was enhanced this year with a 
number of projects coming to fruition. A Positron Particle Tracking rig has 
been created, allowing nuclear sources to be added to the fluidised bed 
so that the flow of the bed media around the system and the impact of 
temperature gradients can be better understood. Laboratories for testing  
the quality of Plaxx have been built along with batch scale reactors to speed 

up analysis. These capabilities significantly improve the company’s ability  
to enhance the process as well as to accelerate the commercialisation of 
future developments.

The engineering team now has the capacity to continually improve the Beta 
plant, finalise the RT7000 v1 design and to develop a variant of the process 
that will recycle polystyrene into styrene, a process known as monomer 
recycling.

The engineering team now has the capacity to 
continually improve the Beta plant... 
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People

Commercial Advisory Panel (CAP)

I’m very grateful to Paul Turner for chairing the CAP this year and to  
Sir John Grant, Paul Francis, Chris McNally and Adrian Haworth for their 
continued support. During the year, Geoffrey Philipps and Peter Jones OBE 
stood down from the CAP, and I’d like to register my thanks to them both for 
the insights and energy that they have provided the company for many years 
– it has been very much appreciated. I’m also delighted that Simon Eaton, 
previously the head of public relations for Goldman Sachs in Europe and 
Barcap (Barclays Investment Banking), joined the CAP this year.  
His experience in communicating with institutional investors and  
though major media channels has already proven valuable. 

Technical Advisory Panel (TAP)

The composition of the TAP, chaired by Stephen Hodges, remained 
unchanged throughout the period. We continue to be very appreciative  
of the support and guidance provided by Niels Fabricius, Prof. Jonathan 
Seville, Prof. Gary Leeke, Dr Bob Jones and Prof. Rex Thorpe whose 
contribution to the technical team has once again been so valuable.

The Board & Senior Management

We were delighted in this period to welcome, as part of the Series A 
investment, Joonas Helenius and Simon Dent to the Board from Neste  
and Mirova Capital, respectively. They both have banking and mergers  
and acquisitions backgrounds, and their presence on the Board has  
further increased the governance capability of the company. 

The senior management team composition was unchanged during the 
period. It has coped tremendously well with the challenges of COVID-19 
and of starting to work alongside multinational corporations. Both these 
challenges have resulted in significant and rapid change within the  
company which the team has managed extremely well.

Conclusion

The year was not the one that anyone expected given the arrival of COVID-19. 
The pandemic added complexity to what was always going to be a significant 
year for the company as we sought to raise our Series A investment, enter 
into a Joint Development Agreement with a multinational engineering 
company, engage with our supply chain to complete the detailed design  
and commence manufacturing of the first RT7000. 

Whilst frustrations have abounded, the RT7000 build has commenced  
and components are currently being assembled in our Swindon facility.  
The company stayed COVID-free, we succeeded in getting ISO9001 
and 14001 and significantly strengthened our technology development, 
engineering, manufacturing and operational capabilities. 

...we succeeded in getting ISO9001 and 14001 
and significantly strengthened our technology 
development, engineering, manufacturing and 
operational capabilities. 

The marketplace for the RT7000 continues to grow with interest in chemical 
recycling developing around the world. So, looking forward, we are confident 
that the company is well-positioned and equipped to grow strongly into 
this nascent chemical recycling sector, creating significant returns for 
shareholders as well as making a real, positive environmental impact.

Adrian Griffiths 
CEO

30 April 2021

1‘You’re on Mute’ and ‘Unprecedented’: The Words of the Year – The New York Times (nytimes.com)



 RECYCLING TECHNOLOGIES LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2020  | 10

OUR MARKET
The demand for recovered monomers and feedstocks is expected to grow at an average 17-18% per year.

Global plastic production has soared from 2 Mt in 1950 to 368 Mt in 20192 and 
is expected to reach 1Bt by 20503. In 2016, only 12% of global plastic waste 
generated was recycled, with the remainder being landfilled, incinerated, or 
lost to the environment3.

Mechanical recycling is the most prevalent method of recycling plastic 
today. Its capacity is forecast to reach 97 Mt per year by 2030. However, the 
plastic waste produced is expected to grow to 440 Mt per year over the same 
period, exceeding the mechanical recycling capacity by 343 Mt. This process 
can only handle specific types of plastic waste and often does not produce 
plastics that are suitable for food-grade applications. Thus, mechanical 
recycling is currently an incomplete solution to the problem of plastic waste. 

Chemical recycling can help bridge the recycling capacity gap by offering 
a solution to recycle plastic which is currently unrecyclable through 
mechanical means. 

Chemical recycling also produces virgin-quality 
polymers that can be continuously recycled. 

Chemical recycling also produces virgin-quality polymers that can be 
continuously recycled. In this way, chemical recycling complements existing 
mechanical recycling capability to boost overall recycling rates, driving the 
shift towards a circular economy for plastic.
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Recovered monomers and 
feedstocks (in combination 
Chemical Recycling) is 
expected to grow at an 
average 17-18% per year.

The greatest challenge to 
achieving McKinsey’s 2050 
prediction is the ability to 
build plastic-to-oil capacity 
quickly enough. RT’s 
strategy of mass production 
and sales to existing waste 
operators is aimed at solving 
this capacity problem.

Global polymer demand 2016-50 and how it could be covered, millions of metric tonnes

CHEMICAL 
RECYCLING

Source: How plastics-waste recycling 
could transform the chemical industry. 
December 2018.  
McKinsey on chemicals ©
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Market drivers

Businesses and policymakers are setting binding targets that are driving 
demand for recycling solutions worldwide. There is a clear demand for 
recycled feedstock material to produce virgin-quality recycled plastic.  
RT is well-positioned to contribute to this demand.

Legislation

An increased focus on the environmental impacts of plastic waste has 
led numerous countries across the developed world to implement taxes, 
incentives and targets to drive plastic recycling. Recent years have seen an 
increase in government targets and legislation incentivising plastic recycling 
in many countries, including the EU (Single Use Plastic Directive) and the UK 
(Plastic Tax). Today, targets and regulations are being set across the value 
chain that are driving a shift towards a circular economy for plastic.

• UK Plastic Packaging Tax £200 per tonne on packaging made from  
less than 30% recycled plastic, from April 2022

• EU Plastic Tax of €800 per tonne on non-recycled plastic packaging, 
January 2021

• The EU’s Circular Economy Action Plan, which sets the goal of  
ensuring all plastic packaging is recyclable by 2030

• EU Plastic & Packaging Waste Directive setting a 50% recycling rate  
for plastic packaging by 2025 and 55% rate by 2030

• EU Single Use Plastic Directive sets increased collection goals for  
plastic packaging and extended producer responsibility schemes

• Waste export and import bans, such as the import ban imposed by  
China in 2017

Business and consumer trends

Greater awareness of the environmental impact of plastics has increased 
consumer pressure on businesses to act. Over 40 fast-moving consumer 
goods firms, such as Unilever, Mars, Danone, Pepsico and Coca-Cola 
have pledged to reduce the amount of virgin plastic they use by 2025, 
incorporating a 30% target for recycled content in their plastic packaging.

• The Global Commitment promoted by the Ellen MacArthur Foundation 
has over 450 signatories to targets for elimination of problematic plastics

• Creation of the Alliance to End Plastic Waste, through which a large 
number of major global companies aim to invest $1.5 billion in plastic 
waste solutions over the next five years

• A commitment from Neste, one of RT’s strategic investors, to process  
over 1 million tonnes of waste plastic annually from 2030 onward by  
using plastic waste-derived feedstocks in its refineries

2 Plastics Europe. (2020). Plastics – The facts 2020.  
Retrieved from https://www.plasticseurope.org/en/resources/publications/4312-plastics-facts-2020.

3 McKinsey & Company. (2018). How Plastics-waste recycling could transform the chemical industry.  
Retrieved from https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/chemicals/our-insights/how-plastics-waste-recycling-could-transform-the-chemical-industry.
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OUR STRATEGY
RT’s business model is to sell RT7000 machines to the  
resource management industry, enabling them to recycle  
plastic waste back into oil.

What makes us different

We orient our business strategy and invest for future growth by focusing  
on the following strategic priorities:

Focus on Residual Plastic Waste (RPW)

Mechanical recycling processes are only suitable for certain types of plastics. 
The other types of plastic waste, such as films, multilayer packaging and 
coloured plastic items are more difficult to process. This residual plastic 
waste (RPW) is currently considered to be unrecyclable and is typically 
incinerated or landfilled. However, our pilot plant has demonstrated that it  
is able to recycle this RPW that was previously considered unrecyclable.

RT’s business proposition does not compete with traditional mechanical 
recycling operators, allowing us to grow in synergy with the mechanical 
recycling industry. We have demonstrated that the integration of the RT7000 
with mechanical recycling infrastructure could achieve recycling rates as 
high as 90%.

We have demonstrated that the integration of the 
RT7000 with mechanical recycling infrastructure could 
achieve recycling rates as high as 90%.

Modularity as a driver for growth

The modular design of the RT7000 facilitates the mass production and 
deployment of the technology worldwide. Each module of the RT7000 is the 
size of a 20-foot ISO container. This drives a quick plug-and-play installation 
that minimises expensive additional site works and installation phases. It also 
allows for fast manufacturing through an assembly line, facilitating a low-cost 
system for the supply of units.

Build Own and Operate (BOO) model
RT’s primary business model is to mass-produce and sell RT7000 machines 
to the waste management industry worldwide. However, we recognize 
that implementing this long-term model successfully will first require 
comprehensive demonstration of both the technology and Plaxx® outputs at 
a commercial scale. Therefore, we are currently collaborating with strategic 
partners in developing a limited number of projects that will be built, owned 
and operated (BOO) by RT. This approach helps demonstrate our product at 
a commercial scale without our customers taking a high level of risk on an 
early machine. After this initial fleet of machines, RT will begin selling RT7000 
units to national and international customers.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT

2
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

I am pleased to report another year of positive progress for the company in 
what has clearly been a challenging year for everyone. The obvious priority 
was the safety of our employees and other stakeholders we would usually be 
working in close contact with and I am glad to report that we have managed 
to do this throughout the pandemic and it still remains our top priority. 

Despite the pandemic, the global focus on a move towards a circular 
economy has continued to strengthen, supported by the actions of 
governments and investors. Within this, plastic remains high on the agenda 
as a material with increasing use and many positive attributes but which has 
been resistant to effective large-scale recycling. The obvious damage that 
plastic pollution is doing, especially to the marine environment also means 
that the topic has high and increasing awareness with the public. 

Although there have been delays due to the limitations of being able to work 
on-site at the Beta Plant and at the first RT7000 site at Binn Farm, and in our 
inability to work as closely with key suppliers we have made good progress 
in continuing to prove and develop the technology. This was evidenced by 
the investments made by Neste and Mirova which has helped fund this 
development. 

We have also signed a joint development agreement with Neste which 
has helped support our progress, particularly in key operational and safety 
aspects.

We have also signed a joint development agreement 
with Neste which has helped support our progress, 
particularly in key operational and safety aspects.

Another important validation has been the signing of a development contract 
with INEOS, one of the largest global producers of polystyrene, to specifically 
look at applying our technology to the recycling of this material. 

As with any start-up company, developing and proving innovative technology 
continues to raise new challenges but we feel there is now a clear path to 
seeing it fully operational in a live environment. 

There is also the challenge of continuing to raise funding for what is now 
quite a capital-intensive period in the company’s development and the 
management team continues to manage the speed and range of activity 
within the funds available. 

This has been my first year as Chairman and I have been impressed by the 
commitment of the management team and all the employees, especially in 
such difficult times.

Gary Bullard
Chair of the Board

30 April 2021
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Gary Bullard 
Chair of the Board
Audit Committee (Member)

Gary has held a number of senior roles 
incorporates such as IBM and BT. Until 
2012 he was President at Logica UK and 
a member of the Executive Committee of 
Logica Plc. He has considerable Alternative 
Investment Market (AIM) and Main Market 
experience, serving on the Boards of 
companies such as Chloride Group Plc., 
Rotork Plc., Spirent Communications Plc.  
and Gooch & Housego Plc. where he is  
also the current chairman.

Paul Turner 
Non-executive Director
Nominations Committee (Chair)
Commercial Advisory Panel (Chair)
Remuneration Committee (Member)

Paul is an exceptionally experienced senior 
executive in the petrochemical industry 
and has worked with some of the largest 
chemical companies in the world including 
LyondellBasell, Borealis and The Dow 
Chemical Company. Prior to these roles, 
Paul was vice president of global business 
operations at Borealis, where he was 
responsible for transforming the global 
business engineering applications unit.

Simon Dent 
SOF Director
Simon is the founder and Principal of  
the Sustainable Ocean Fund and leads  
the investment committee for the fund.  
He has more than 20 years of transactional 
and senior management experience in 
commodity and sustainable finance.  
Simon is a recognised leader in the blue 
economy space where he is focused on 
developing and funding investable business 
models that provide clear impact gains 
for ocean ecosystems as well as creating 
meaningful economic returns for ocean 
stakeholders and investors.

Nicola Frayne 
Non-executive Director
Remuneration Committee (Chair)
Nominations Committee (Member)

Nicola brings a wealth of experience to  
the board, especially as an HR professional. 
Nicola previously served as Group HR 
Director of Unite Plc., a FTSE250 company, 
where she was a member of the senior 
management team during a rapid  
expansion of the business.

Stephen Hodges 
Non-executive Director
Technical Advisory Panel (Chair)
Nominations Committee (Member)
Remuneration Committee (Member)

Stephen has vast experience in the waste 
industry, including 15 years at Viridor as 
Director of Engineering. Stephen is currently 
an associate at Carbon Limited Technologies, 
where he advises on the commercialisation 
of innovative new technologies in the clean 
energy field. He also provides expert waste 
project consultancy services.

Ravish Jain 
Executive Director
Ravish joined RT soon after the company’s 
foundation in 2013. Previously, he worked 
for Reliance Power Limited in project 
development, regulatory compliance and 
fundraising for a multi-billion-dollar power 
and coal mining project. He has an MBA 
from Warwick Business School (UK) and a 
degree in Mining Engineering from IIT (ISM) 
Dhanbad (India).

Laurence Hollingworth 
Investor Director
Laurence spent nearly 40 years in the  
City with Cazenove and then J.P. Morgan.  
He retired from J.P. Morgan in November 
2017 having held various senior roles, 
latterly as Vice Chairman. His experience in 
Corporate Finance covered Equity Capital 
Markets as well as advising on a variety  
of M&A situations.

Adrian Griffiths 
Executive Director
Prior to founding Recycling Technologies  
in 2011 Adrian co-founded two successful  
UK businesses: OEE Consulting and 
Vendigital. He is an experienced business 
leader within the manufacturing sector, 
a Chartered Engineer with a degree in 
Mechanical Engineering from Imperial 
College.

Joonas Helenius 
Neste Director
Joonas is nominated by Neste and brings 
a mix of financial and industrial views to 
the Board. He has a decade of experience 
from the investment banking advisory and 
corporate development roles at Neste and 
previous employers on an international  
basis. Lately he has focused on corporate 
venturing activities.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee (AC) is delegated with the authority from the Board 
to provide independent oversight of the Company’s financial reporting and 
internal control systems, and the adequacy of the external audit. The AC is 
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties including support, 
as necessary, from the external auditor, legal counsel and management 
in examining all matters relating to the Company’s adopted accounting 
principles and practices, and in reviewing all material financial, 
operational and compliance controls. The AC’s terms of reference are 
available on request.

The AC comprises Paul Francis and Gary Bullard. None of the AC members 
are employed by or otherwise affiliated with the auditor of Recycling 
Technologies Limited.

The AC held two meetings in 2020.

Summary of work in 2020

• Reviewed the Company’s annual financial results
• Reviewed, with both the external auditor and management, the audit 

approach and methodology applied, and in particular to those Key Audit 
Matters identified by the auditor

• Reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control systems and its accounting function

• Reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s independence and 
engagement to perform non-audit services

• Approved the 2020 external audit engagement letters and fees
• Reviewed changes in accounting principles and practices proposed  

by management

Review of financial results

The AC reviewed the 2020 Financial Statements in conjunction with the 
external auditor of Recycling Technologies Ltd., Haines Watts. Based on 
this review and discussions with management, the AC was satisfied that 
the Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards and fairly present the Company’s financial position 
and results for the year ended 31 December 2020. The AC therefore 
recommended the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2020 be approved by the Board.

Review of key audit matters

The AC reviewed and discussed with the external auditor and management 
the key audit matters for the audit of the 2020 Financial Statements, which 
comprised going concern, revenue and other income recognition, capitalised 
costs and management override of controls. The AC was satisfied that 
sufficient analysis had been performed in these areas.

Review of internal control systems

The AC considered and concurred with management’s assessment that for 
the year ended 31 December 2020, that the Company’s risk management and 
internal control systems were effective with reference to the activities of the 
Company.

Review of accounting and financial reporting

The AC reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of the resources,  
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of  
the Company’s accounting function.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Independence of external auditor

The AC is mandated to monitor the independence of the Group’s external 
auditor, Haines Watts (HW), to ensure objectivity in the financial statements. 
With respect to the independence of the Company’s external auditor, the AC 
received confirmation from and discussed with HW on its independence and 
objectivity. 

During the year, the AC reviewed HW’s statutory audit scope and non-audit 
services and approved its fees. Fees paid to HW comprised the following:

Source £

Audit services 9k

Non-audit services 9k

Total 18k

Re-appointment of external auditor

The AC was satisfied with HW’s work, its independence, and its objectivity, 
and therefore recommended the re-appointment of HW (which has indicated 
its willingness to continue in office) as the Company’s external auditor for 
2021.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

Paul Francis
Chair of the Audit Committee

30 April 2021
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Welcome to the report of the Nomination Committee for the 2020  
financial year.

The Committee is comprised of independent Non-Executive Directors  
and Recycling Technologies’ Human Resources Director, Penny Grobler,  
as Secretary. The Committee met on two occasions, where select Executive 
Directors of Recycling Technologies have been invited to attend where 
considered appropriate or necessary.

The Nomination Committee ensures appropriate succession plans are 
in place and reviews the structure as well as composition of the Board 
to provide the necessary balance of knowledge, skills and experience to 
develop and support Company strategy. The Terms of Reference of the 
Nomination Committee has been reviewed, it remains unchanged and is 
modelled closely on those set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code.

The Nomination Committee endeavours to use external search support to 
facilitate any Board search in question, complimented by its own professional 
network. The recruitment process we undertake is in accordance with the 
relevant Company recruitment policies providing candidates with a wide 
range of backgrounds. The Nomination Committee is cognisant of the 
benefits that diversity can bring both to the Boardroom and to the success 
of the business and therefore give this due and proper consideration to all 
aspects of diversity in its deliberations. 

• The gender balance at RT’s executive management levels is 44% female 
senior managers, stable versus 2019.

• The gender balance at RT’s Board is 14% female, down from 2019 which 
was 20% female following the inclusion of the two new Directors from 
Neste and Mirova. 

Following the successful investment of Neste and Mirova into Recycling 
Technologies, we welcomed two new members to its Board:

• Simon Dent is the founder and Principal of the Sustainable Ocean Fund 
and leads the investment committee for the fund. He has more than 20 
years of transactional and senior management experience in commodity 
and sustainable finance. Simon is a recognised leader in the blue economy 

space where he is focused on developing and funding investable business 
models that provide clear impact gains for ocean ecosystems as well 
as creating meaningful economic returns for ocean stakeholders and 
investors.

• Joonas Helenius is nominated by Neste and brings a mix of financial and 
industrial views to the Board. He has a decade of experience from the 
investment banking advisory and corporate development roles at Neste 
and previous employers on an international basis. Lately he has focused 
on corporate venturing activities.

In May 2020, Laurence Hollingworth was re-confirmed as Investor Director. 
Laurence spent nearly 40 years in the City with Cazenove and then J.P. 
Morgan. He retired from J.P. Morgan in November 2017 having held various 
senior roles, latterly as Vice Chairman. His experience in Corporate Finance 
covered Equity Capital Markets as well as advising on a variety of M&A 
situations.

In 2020 there have been no changes in the leadership of the Remuneration 
Committee, chaired by Nicola Frayne nor the Audit Committee, chaired by 
Paul Francis on an interim basis. 

The Nomination Committee reviewed the current Board structure and 
composition, including the length of service and relevant skill sets of each 
Director. It was agreed that an annual review will be undertaken to ensure 
Board composition remains in alignment with any current or proposed 
strategic developments.

The Committee will continue to focus on succession planning and increasing 
the diversity of its Board in 2021.

On behalf of the Nomination Committee

Paul Turner
Chair of the Nomination Committee

30 April 2021



 RECYCLING TECHNOLOGIES LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2020  | 19

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Dear Shareholder, 

On behalf of the Board, it is my pleasure to present the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report for 2020. This report is split into two sections:  
this Annual Statement and the Annual Report on Remuneration.

During 2020, the Remuneration Committee comprised four independent 
Non-Executive Directors: — Nicola Frayne (Committee Chair) — Stephen 
Hodges — Gary Bullard ( joined March 2020) — Paul Turner ( joined 
April 2020). Laurence Hollingworth (Investor Director) as well as certain 
executives, including Adrian Griffiths (Chief Executive) and Stephen Pascoe 
(Finance Director) have been, from time to time, invited to attend meetings of 
the Committee, and the Human Resources Director, Penny Grobler, acts as 
Secretary to the Committee. No individuals are involved in decisions relating 
to their own remuneration.

Remuneration Committee activities in 2020

• Reviewed and approved the Executive Directors’ performance against 
annual bonus objectives for 2019; determined bonuses payable  
(including balance between cash and options);

• Considered remuneration market trends and corporate governance 
developments; 

• Reviewed the Company Remuneration Policy;
• Reviewed and approved salary increases for the Executive Directors  

and senior management team for 2020;
• Reviewed and approved Total Reward principles for the Executive 

Directors and Senior Management Team for 2020 including annual  
bonus and Long-Term Incentive Plan; 

• Determined the Executive Directors’ bonus targets for 2020 in line  
with the strategic plan; 

• Reviewed Terms of Reference and membership of Remuneration 
Committee;

• Prepared the 2019 Annual Report.

• Appointed Mercer as the Committee’s independent advisor following a 
competitive tender process. Mercer provided independent advice with 
regards to Total Executive Reward benchmarking and updates on the 
external remuneration environment. They also provided a USOS scheme 
review with regards to NED remuneration and an EMI scheme review with 
regards to how we incentivise the Executives and Senior Management 
Team (SMT) on an annual basis and over the longer term. Their total fees 
for the provision of remuneration services to the Committee for the year 
2020 were £7,200.00 excl VAT.

The Company aims to balance the need to attract, retain and motivate 
Executive Directors and other senior executives of an appropriate calibre 
with the need to be cost effective, whilst at the same time rewarding 
exceptional performance. Working with Mercer, the Committee has agreed a 
Remuneration Policy that balances those factors, taking account prevailing 
best practice, investor expectations and the level of remuneration and pay 
awards made generally to employees of the Company.

• In 2020 we moved to paying cash-only salaries and agreed that for 2021 
performance onwards, annual bonuses will also be paid as cash-only 
(previously was a mix of EMI options and cash).

• Peter Smith (our adviser at Mercer) established a new Company called 
Ellason in December 2020. Peter has a good working knowledge of the 
Company and has an existing longer-term trusted relationship with myself 
as RemCo Chair, we decided to move with Peter and so RT’s independent 
RemCo advisor for 2021 will be Ellason. 
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Performance and reward

The Committee considered the final proposed Balanced Score Card for 2019. 
This was the second year that a Balanced Score Card (BSC) had been used. 

After discussion, the Committee recommended to the Board a final bonus 
award in respect of the cash and options variable bonus element of 40% of 
the maximum awards against the agreed scorecard. The Board approved this 
recommendation.

Changes of personnel

Joonas Helenius (Neste) and Simon Dent (Althelia) joined the board in  
April 2020 but receive no fee from Recycling Technologies.

See table in next section for fees by person. 

Plans for 2021

The Mercer review concluded that EMI options are a viable incentive 
mechanism for use for both the SMT and the wider staff complement. 
These options should, however, be used as part of a Longer-Term Incentive 
Plan. Options would be awarded when large value-adding milestones are 
achieved. We plan to agree the details of the LTIP scheme including the 
milestones in during 2021.

Mercer review also indicated that it would be beneficial to pay NEDs in cash 
and move away from an options-based remuneration. However, due to cash 
availability, it has been agreed that 2021 remuneration will remain USOS 
options, but the scheme itself will be reviewed.

Although RT’s compliance with the requirements of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code is not strictly required, you will note that we have sought  
to adopt many of the requirements early.

Nicola Frayne
Chair of Remuneration Committee 

30 April 2021
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Date of service contract Annual fee 2019 Annual fee 2020

Gary Bullard Jan 2020 n/a £50k cash + 20,000 
USOS options

Nicola Frayne Nov 2017 17,205 USOS options 17,600 USOS options

Stephen Hodges Nov 2017 17,205 USOS options 17,600 USOS options

Paul Turner Dec 2018 17,205 USOS options 17,600 USOS options

Laurence 
Hollingworth

May 2019 18,005 USOS options 17,600 USOS options

Joonas Helenius March 2020 n/a £0

Simon Dent March 2020 n/a £0

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

Subject to re-election by shareholders, the Investor Director is elected on an 
annual basis. Other Directors are appointed for a three-year term, with the 
exception of the SOF and Neste Directors. Subsequent terms of three years 
may be awarded. Nicola Frayne, Stephen Hodges and Ravish Jain will be up 
for re-election in 2021. 

The appointment, re-appointment and the remuneration of Non-Executive 
Directors are matters reserved for the full Board. The Non-Executive Directors 
are not eligible to participate in the Company’s performance-related bonus 
plan or pension arrangements.

Remuneration in 2019 Remuneration in 2020

Base salary •  Cash part of salaries increased
effective 1 April 2019, as follows:

•  CEO, Adrian Griffiths 10%
increase to £110,000 plus £75,000
EMI options

•  Commercial Director, Ravish Jain
14% increase to £80,000 plus
£10,000 EMI options

Effective 1 June 2020, salary 
changes as follows:

•  CEO, Adrian Griffiths £159,500,
cash only

•  Commercial Director, Ravish Jain
£110,000 cash only

Pension 4% Employer contribution 4% Employer contribution

Annual bonus Annual bonuses of 52.2 % of 
maximum bonus for each Executive 
Director based on a corporate 
scorecard outcome of 58% and a 
multiplier of 0.9x based on lost time 
accidents recorded (1).

Bonuses paid in cash and options 
in 2019 (cash) and 2020 (options) 
for the year 2018 as follows:

•  CEO, Adrian Griffiths £5,220 cash
plus 47,455 EMI options

•  Commercial Director, Ravish
Jain £5,220 cash plus 23,726 EMI
options

Annual bonuses of 40% of 
maximum bonus for each Executive 
Director based on a corporate 
scorecard outcome of 40% and a 
multiplier of 1.0 based on RIDDOR 
accidents recorded (zero).

Bonuses paid in cash and options in 
2020 for the year 2019 as follows:

•  CEO, Adrian Griffiths £4,000 cash
and 13,333 EMI options

•  Commercial Director, Ravish
Jain  £2,000 cash and 4,000 EMI
options

Company life 
insurance benefit

4 x Annual Base Salary 4 x Annual Base Salary

Company mobile 
phone

AG:  Yes

RJ:   No

AG:  Yes

RJ:   Yes

Executive Director remuneration Non-Executive Director remuneration
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SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT

3
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OUR PILLARS OF SUSTAINABILITY

Making plastic more sustainable...

 ENVIRONMENT TEAM COMMUNITY

…with the smallest  
environmental  

footprint possible

The environment is one of our  
key stakeholders. 

In 2020 we saw the effects  
of climate change and plastic pollution with 

unprecedented force. Addressing these 
challenges requires a fundamental shift in 

the way we think about the plastics industry. 
We are committed to fighting these issues 
by improving the circularity of plastic while 

mitigating climate change.

…with a diverse team  
united by a  

common cause

Employees are the single most important 
investment a company can make. 

Our talented, diverse and ambitious team 
is our greatest asset and we must take care 

of the physical and mental wellbeing of 
our employees to support each individual 
while they achieve their career goals. We 
continuously challenge each other while 
believing there is no success too small to 

celebrate.

…by driving positive   
change without  
causing harm

We want to improve the lives  
of people outside RT. 

Every company is part of the  
fabric of wider society, which comes  

with the power to do both harm and good.  
RT is committed to creating social value  

while taking responsibility for our actions  
and impacts on the wider community.
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UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS (SDGs)

Adopted by over 190 countries, the 17 UN Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs) outline a holistic approach to achieving impact against the world’s 
most pressing challenges such as poverty, inequality, climate change, 
environmental degradation, and peace. The SDGs represent a global 
blueprint for a sustainable future by 2030. 

Stakeholders are increasingly looking to businesses to help address  
these global development challenges. RT is committed to contributing  
to the development of these goals, and has identified the following  
four areas where our business activity has the most potential for impact:

14.
LIFE BELOW WATER
Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, 
seas and marine resources for sustainable 
development

9.
INDUSTRY, INNOVATION  
AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Build resilient infrastructure, promote
inclusive and sustainable industrialization
and foster innovation

11.
SUSTAINABLE CITIES  
AND COMMUNITIES
Make cities and human settlements 
inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable

12.
RESPONSIBLE CONSUMPTION 
AND PRODUCTION
Ensure sustainable consumption and 
production patterns

13.
CLIMATE
ACTION
Take urgent action to combat 
climate change and its impacts
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We are committed to reducing the 
environmental impact of urban areas 
through the provision of environmentally 
and economically efficient plastic  
waste management infrastructure. 

The widespread adoption of the RT7000 will 
enable the decoupling of plastic materials 
from fossil fuel extraction. Additionally, the 
valorisation of plastic waste will provide 
an opportunity for developing nations to 
generate revenue through the collection of 
plastic waste.
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4 McKinsey & Company. (2018). How Plastics-waste recycling could transform the chemical industry. 
Retrieved from https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/chemicals/our-insights/how-plastics-waste-recycling-could-transform-the-chemical-industry.

5 UN Environment Programme. (2018). Single-use plastics: A roadmap for sustainability. 
Retrieved from https://www.unep.org/resources/report/single-use-plastics-roadmap-sustainability.

6 The Ellen MacArthur Foundation. (2016). The new plastics economy: Rethinking the future of plastics.  
Retrieved from https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/our-work/activities/new-plastics-economy/publications/reports.

Our technology was developed with  
the aim of preventing plastics from  
leaking into our oceans. 

Our technology was developed with the aim 
of preventing plastics from leaking into our 
oceans. By 2050 it is predicted that 99% of 
all seabirds will have ingested plastic and 
that there will be more plastic5 in the ocean 
than fish by weight6. RT aims to stem the tide 
on ocean plastics by enhancing our global 
recycling capacity. By giving value to plastic 
on land we can prevent plastic from leaking 
into our oceans.

RT’s business model is inherently 
collaborative. By connecting the waste 
management sector to the petrochemical 
industry, RT is actively engaged across 
the value chain in facilitating both the 
responsible production and consumption 
of plastic.

Our technology enables organisations 
and communities to meet regulatory 
requirements such as the UK and EU plastic 
tax and achieve business targets to ensure 
plastic packaging contains at least 30% 
recycled content by 2022.
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Ensure sustainable consumption and 
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13.
CLIMATE
ACTION
Take urgent action to combat 
climate change and its impacts

An integrated and circular plastic waste 
management system could enable up to four 
times more plastic to be recycled by 20304. 

Feedstock recycling technologies such  
as the RT7000 can help to overcome the 
inadequacies in current recycling systems  
while environmentally outperforming  
alternative solutions for dealing with plastic  
waste. We are actively engaged with stake-
holders, consumers, retailers and investors  
to improve waste management systems  
around the world.
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TURNING IDEALS INTO ACTIONS: OUR GLOBAL PROJECTS

SCOTLAND 
BINN ECO PARK, PERTH

NETHERLANDS 
BRIGHTLANDS CHEMELOT

FRANCE 
PROJECT FUSCIA

INDONESIA 
MOJOKERTO

RT is working with Zero Waste 
Scotland to realise their 2030 
target of making all plastic 
packaging economically 
recyclable by installing the  
first RT7000.

RT has signed an agreement with 
Brightlands Chemelot Campus, 
a technological growth hub, to 
evaluate the installation of RT’s 
first plastic chemical recycling 
machine in one of the largest 
research and industrial sites in 
Europe.

RT is working alongside the 
compliance body CITEO, Total, 
Mars and Nestle as part of a 
cross-sector consortium to 
integrate chemical recycling 
into existing waste management 
infrastructure.

RT is working with the Alliance 
to End Plastic Waste and a local 
waste management company 
to evaluate the feasibility 
of deploying an RT7000 to 
complement a new general waste 
recycling facility in Mojokerto.

Partners Partners Partners PartnersSDGs SDGs SDGs SDGs
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Identifying and understanding the material needs and expectations of 
our stakeholders, both internal and external, is crucial to the sustainable 
development of our organisation. RT’s first materiality assessment was 
conducted in April 2020 through surveying our employees, board of 
directors, investors, shareholders and suppliers. 

Stakeholders were presented with 42 topics material to environmental, social, 
and governance areas and asked to rank the topics in order of importance 
according to their potential to impact the business and RT’s ability to 
influence those issues. As a result, we identified the five topics that our 
stakeholders consider most material to RT. These topics formed the basis  
of our reporting for 2020.

MATERIALITY

Key material issues in 2020

Climate change  
& greenhouse gas 
emissions

Reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions from RT’s 
operations and helping to 
tackle global greenhouse 
gas emissions through 
the development of low-
carbon technology 

Operational  
& occupational 
health & safety

Protecting the health and 
safety of our employees 
and contractors through 
carefully planned 
operations and risk 
management processes

Waste  
management

Increasing the capacity 
of end-of-life options 
for plastics on a global 
scale while reducing 
the quantity of waste 
generated within RT’s 
operations

Air quality  
& pollution

Managing the air 
quality impacts and 
environmental pollution 
resulting from our 
operational activities

Material use  
& recycled content

Accelerating the 
transition to a circular 
plastic economy by 
globally enabling the 
recycling of plastic 
materials and reducing 
the use of materials 
within RT’s operations
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Our vision for a circular plastics economy

The circular economy concept seeks to eliminate the linear ‘take-make-
waste’ model and transform it into a system where materials can be reused 
infinitely. Our process can change the story of plastic by turning waste into 
a valuable feedstock for new plastic production, bridging the gap between 
the waste and petrochemical sectors to close the loop in the plastics value 
chain. The widespread adoption of our technology can help to turn off the 
tap, stopping plastic waste from entering the environment. In doing so we 
will reduce CO2 emissions, retain valuable resources within the economy 
and displace the use of virgin fossil resources whilst enhancing existing 
mechanical recycling systems.

Our vision for a low carbon future

In 2019 the UK became the first major world economy to pass laws to end  
its contribution to global warming by 2050. The UK’s 2050 net zero target 
means any residual emissions will be balanced by schemes to offset 
equivalent greenhouse gases. Our ambition is to support this target by 
becoming a net zero company ourselves. We aim to achieve this by setting 
ambitious, science-based emissions reduction targets and reporting the 
progress against these targets at least annually. This year, RT has acted  
on this commitment by beginning to plan its technological decarbonisation 
strategy.

Our ambition is to support this target by becoming  
a net zero company ourselves. 

ENVIRONMENT

Environmental performance

In 2020 we undertook our first benchmark study to quantify the environmental 
performance of our office and process operations. These data provide a 
basis on which we can ensure compliance with legislation and set targets 
and strategies to improve our performance each year. Continuous collection 
of environmental impact data can also provide management with detailed 
information to help inform decisions to reduce costs and identify risks. The  
data collected in this study is presented on page 33 (ESG Datasheet).

RT has committed to integrating life cycle assessment (LCA) into our in-house 
sustainability toolkit. This year an LCA study suggested that the net carbon 
footprint of the RT7000 has the potential to vastly outperform Energy from 
Waste (EfW) as an alternative outcome for plastic waste. Internal studies 
suggest that each barrel of Plaxx produced has a net carbon footprint of 128kg 
CO₂e. When compared with EfW this represents a saving of 216kg CO₂e per 
barrel of oil equivalent (p. 34). 

The RT7000 process also has the added benefit of providing a valuable 
feedstock to manufacture new plastic. 

While landfilling exhibits relatively fewer emissions, the abiotic depletion  
metric (p. 34) highlights the potential displacement of fossil fuel use that 
the RT7000 can achieve. As a result, we believe the RT7000 provides the 
most favourable method of recycling residual plastic waste from an overall 
environmental standpoint.

As part of our commitment to decarbonisation, future iterations of the RT7000 
will continue to consider the impact of environmental LCA categories in the 
early design phase, ensuring that the overall impact of each version of our 
technology is better than the last until we reach our net-zero targets.
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Security, Safety, Health and Environment (SSHE)

Health and Safety (H&S) remains a key business priority and is paramount 
not only to the success of the business but to the welfare of our workforce 
across our operations. In 2020 we maintained our focus on improving 
behavioural safety and H&S culture and preparation for certification under 
ISO 45001 was started. Annual performance is considered excellent with  
767 accident free days achieved to Dec 20 when a minor incident at the  
Beta plant resulted in a non-reportable accident. The business exceeded  
the industry best-in-class benchmark Incident Rate for the year.

The lost time incident KPI uses Incident Rate (IR), a frequency rate reporting 
the equivalent rate of 3+ day lost time accidents and work-related absences 
per 100,000 workers. This KPI reflects UK Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 
best practice and allows benchmarking of RT performance against industry 
rates on a relative comparison basis. 

A target performance has been set at 1,780 incidents per 100,000 workers, 
being the best in class from the HSE’s all industries data. The business 
exceeded the industry best-in-class benchmark IR for the year.

The business exceeded the industry best-in-class 
benchmark IR for the year.

Audits of the RT SSHE system were conducted with external support 
provided by The Alliance to End Plastic Waste using the using the 
Responsible Care audit system, a recognised Oil & Gas Industry standard 
scheme. RT scored well in the audit with zero non-conformances with the 
standard found.

COVID-19 proved a major challenge to normal operation in 2020 requiring 
the business to develop and execute an additional layer of Health and Safety 
to support safe but modified working. UK HSE South West inspected RT’s 
COVID-19 based safe systems of work on two occasions and RT passed with 
zero non-conformances or areas for improvement.
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Spotlight on COVID-19
At the start of the year nobody could have predicted the full impact 
of COVID-19. The virus has had an incredible impact on businesses, 
communities and individuals. We were extremely fortunate to not have  
lost any of our employees to the virus. However, we sadly recognise  
that many of their families have been affected.

Our core values – Try with Courage, Impact with Integrity and Embrace  
the Power of Team – have been central to our response to the crisis and  
are at the heart of all the decisions we have made to ensure the wellbeing  
of our team and our business.

Response and management      

In early 2020 the impact of COVID-19 was starting to be discussed around 
kitchen tables and boardrooms alike. RT took a proactive approach and 
temporarily closed our offices and operating facilities in March, a full week 
earlier than the UK national lockdown. This enabled us to plan and implement 
enhanced safety measures without compromising the safety and wellbeing 
of our staff. We were visited on two separate occasions by the HSE as part 
of their COVID-19 spot check plan and were encouraged to note their very 
positive feedback on the measures that we had put in place.

• The immediate establishment of a daily Senior Management meeting to 
monitor developments and implement fast and flexible decision-making

• Rapid design and implementation of safe working procedures across all 
sites, transforming them into COVID-19 secure workplaces

• Regular and transparent communication to all stakeholders, internal 
and external, including a weekly CEO letter to ensure the whole team is 
informed of all developments and business decisions related to COVID-19

Resilience and support

It became clear a few weeks into the crisis that COVID-19 was a long-term 
challenge and that for any business to survive, they were going to have to 
adapt and demonstrate tangible resilience to a long-term challenge.  

We continued to support our team through:

•  Considered use of furlough and participation in the Coronavirus Job 
Retention Scheme for 17 members of staff between April and June

•  The implementation of an RT ‘buddy system’ to make sure that all team 
members working remotely or on furlough felt connected, up to date  
with rapid changes and continued to feel part of the team
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•  The accelerated roll out of an online learning platform (RTeach) to deliver 
business critical and personal development training to support all staff  
on furlough, returning to work and those continuing to work remotely

•  Provided a new Cycle to Work Scheme for all staff to promote wellbeing 
and reduce the dependence on public transport. In addition, we launched 
‘RT Uber’, our internal bubble transport network to support colleagues 
working on shifts at operational sites

•  COVID-19 care and support packages for those testing positive, shielding 
or self-isolating

•  Flexible working for those with caring or childcare responsibilities
•  A company-wide Employee Assistance Program (EAP) through Health 

Assured to provide physical and mental health support.  In addition, the 
EAP provides advice and support for all our colleagues on financial and 
legal matters

Diversity and inclusion

Recycling Technologies is an equal opportunities employer. We recruit, 
reward and develop our people based on merit regardless of race, nationality, 
religion, gender, age, sexual orientation, marital status or disability. All our 
people are valued, and we treat everyone who works for or with RT fairly  
and without discrimination. Detailed diversity and inclusion data can be 
found on page 35 (ESG Datasheet).

Cultural diversity

Our company vision can only be delivered by embracing diversity, equality 
and inclusion within our business. Since our beginnings as a small team we 
have recruited with the recognition that diversity contributes to business 
success. By recruiting people from diverse backgrounds and cultures we  
are equipping ourselves to reflect the communities in which we will operate. 
This year was no different and is evidenced by the fact that we now have  
over 30 nationalities represented in the RT team.

Gender equality

RT currently employs much of its staff across traditionally male-dominated 
functions such as engineering, manufacturing and operations. Although 
there has been an encouraging increase in the number of women in the 
UK entering technical and engineering professions, females remain under-
represented across most technical fields. Our 2020 company gender 
representation reflects this, with women making up 27% of our total team.

However, we are closely represented by both males and females in the 
higher grades within the organisation, with the split being very close to 50:50. 
This is a great indicator of the work done to ensure the lack of barriers to 
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progression for all employees working at RT. This calendar year we reduced 
our pay gap to 3.25% down from 5.5% in 2019.

Where we see a larger gap between male and female representation is  
in the mid-level grades which are largely made up of experienced 
engineering roles. Knowing that these roles have historically been filled 
by men, this is not surprising. What is encouraging to note is that this gap 
reduces as we move down to the Associate and Student level, which is 
indicative of more women entering engineering and technical fields of  
study and employment.

Committing to continuous improvement

There is always more to be done. In the coming year, RT plans to build on  
the good work already started by:

• Continuing the work of the Diversity & Inclusion Group established in  
late 2020

• Reviewing our recruitment procedures to ensure unbiased recruitment 
practices are followed

• Continue to retain talented and diverse employees by introducing robust, 
flexible working policies and reinforcing our already enhanced maternity, 
paternity and shared parental leave benefits

• Partner with organisations and institutions that actively promote diverse 
members, enabling us to attract candidates from a variety of backgrounds

• Actively champion STEM in schools and academic institutions to facilitate  
a greater interest in technical fields of study and employment

• Develop mentoring and sponsorship networks to support our equal 
development and talent pipeline planning, which is critical to reaching 
balance across the business

• Data-led and transparent reporting, leading to multi-dimensional action 
driven focus on intersectionality

Leadership

RT is passionate about becoming a leading voice in the sustainability 
sphere. We engage and collaborate with local authorities, waste managers, 
petrochemical companies and leading brands and retailers, helping them 
to achieve a more circular supply chain for plastics. Despite the world going 
virtual in 2020, our CEO and staff continued to participate in outreach events 
ranging from small local opportunities to large international conferences to 
share our knowledge and passion for sustainable recycling solutions.

New Plastics Economy Global Commitment 

We recognise the importance of the Ellen MacArthur Foundation in bringing 
together the voices of petrochemical companies, brand owners, retailers and 
waste managers to bring systemic change in the way plastic is managed 
across its lifecycle. The Ellen MacArthur Foundation’s New Plastics Economy 
Global Commitment in collaboration with the UN Environment Programme 
includes over 450 businesses, governments and non-profit organisations 
around the world that have committed to a clear set of targets to eliminate 
the use of unnecessary plastic products and increase the capacity for 
plastics recycling by 2025. 

RT has been a signatory of the NPE’s Global Commitment since 2019, and 
in 2020 we reconfirmed our commitment to building capacity for feedstock 
recycling to accelerate the development of the circular plastic economy.

Industry memberships

Industry collaboration is key to driving the growth of innovative recycling 
technologies and advancing the circular plastics economy.  We rely on 
industry partners and associations to collaborate and accelerate the 
transition to a more sustainable future. As such, RT is a member of two 
important industry associations to ensure we represent at both UK and 
European level.
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British Plastics Federation (BPF) is the UK’s leading plastics industry 
trade association. RT is a member of BPF’s recycling working group, which 
holds discussions around policy and regulation, establishes terminology 
definitions within the sector, disseminates learnings and is working to create 
a roadmap to help the UK reach governmental targets. BPF is now launching 
a sub-group dedicated to chemical recycling, reinforcing the importance of 
chemical recycling’s role in the waste management ecosystem.

Chemical Recycling Europe (CRE) is leading the discussion with the 
European Commission to embrace the emerging chemical recycling 
technologies. RT is a member of CRE and contributes by providing insights 
and data to guide the discussions around future recycling and waste 
management policies across Europe. Additionally, RT’s Director of Sales and 
Marketing was appointed as a director of the CRE board in December 2020.

Inspiring future leaders

RT is passionate about developing the talent and skills of local employees 
to progress the clean technology industry both today and in the future. In 
2020, RT joined the Future Talent Forums in partnership with New College 
Swindon to jointly shape and develop their STEM curriculum while offering 
work experience, career fairs, internships and apprenticeship programmes. 
We launched our Technical Apprenticeship Programme in 2020 and were 
delighted to welcome seven apprentices into the Manufacturing Department.

We have also become an anchor partner in the development of the Swindon 
and Wiltshire Institute of Technology, an employer-led training facility 
delivering high-level technical and digital skills training for students with 
a clear route to technical employment. RT has continued its affiliation with 
many of the UK’s universities with which we conduct invaluable research  
and development with students and faculty alike.

Corporate Social Responsibility

RT’s recently launched Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) programme 
encourages staff to submit creative and sustainable project proposals  
with the aim of raising awareness on topics that are important to our 
team. Each employee is provided with paid CSR hours to participate in 
these employee-led initiatives, presenting an important opportunity for 
developing new skills and knowledge, as well as encouraging cross-
departmental collaboration. 

These initiatives not only have the potential to deliver tangible cost 
savings to RT, but also improve the productivity and creativity of our 
team. This year our CSR programme helped raise over £1,500 to support 
charities such as the Barnsley Hospital Charity, Macmillan Cancer 
Support, The Movember Foundation and Save the Children.
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ESG DATASHEET (ENVIRONMENT)

Greenhouse gas emissions

This GHG/environment data report has been prepared with reference to  
GRI disclosure 305-1, 305-2, 305-3, 305-7, the WRI/WBCSD Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol and in accordance with the Environmental Reporting Guidance 
issued by DEFRA.

The activities included as direct emissions, referred hereafter as Scope 1, 
refer to the combustion of fuel from stationary and mobile sources.  
Scope 2, the indirect emissions, are defined as kilowatt hours from  
purchased electricity and Scope 3 in this instance, refers only to the  
general water supply and water treatment, and does not include the special 
disposal of the contaminated wastewater generated by the beta pilot plant.

The following greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions/environmental data report 
represents the Scope 1, 2 and relevant Scope 3 emissions from RT’s Beta 
process, material preparation and office operations between the reporting 
period of 1st January to 31st December 2020. The definitions of said Scopes 
and the activities included are displayed in the table below. 

General water supply and sewerage 

All GHG emissions figures are shown in tonnes of carbon dioxide 
equivalent (CO2e) and do not include any additional gases covered by 
the Kyoto Protocol. Methane (CH4), nitrous oxide (N2O), perfluorocarbons 
(PFCs), hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), nitrogen trifluoride (NF3) and sulphur 
hexafluoride (SF6) emissions are omitted from our reporting as they  
are not a material source of GHGs for the business.

Organisational & operational boundary

Direct and indirect GHG emissions (from purchased electricity) have  
been reported from areas where RT have operational control, as defined  
by the GHG Protocol Corporate Standard, which are represented as our  
UK operations at Stirling Court, Berkeley House and the Beta Plant.

Emissions conversion factors 

The CO2e emissions associated with the activities noted above have been 
determined by direct measurement, purchase invoices or actual mileage 
data, which has then been multiplied by the relevant carbon conversion 
factors. Conversion factors for 2020 were provided by the UK’s Department 
for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) and can be accessed at: 
Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors 2020 – GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). 

Activity data 

The activity data as presented here was used in conjunction with emissions 
conversion factors provided by the UK’s BEIS to calculate the annual tonnes 
of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) figure for the year. Only complete and 
representative data was used, to ensure accurate reporting. Furthermore,  
it is important to note that the site at which our beta pilot plant resides is  
off grid, thus requiring the use of diesel to generate electricity for our 
operations at that site. 

Scope Definition Activities included

1 Direct GHG emissions from  
sources that are controlled  
by RT 

LPG and diesel combustion 

Company-owned vehicles 

Gas boilers for office heating 

Air-conditioning units

2 Indirect GHG emissions from 
purchased electricity that is 
consumed by RT 

Electricity consumption 

3 Other indirect emissions  
from sources not owned or 
controlled by RT 

General water supply  
and sewerage 
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Areas lacking effective data collection have been identified and RT are 
working to ensure that all relevant data for emissions reporting can be 
collected accurately and completely, to be reported on in 2021. An example 
of this includes the exclusion of emissions generated from gas produced 
by burning light hydrocarbon gas, which is not yet included in our footprint 
figure due to limitations with our continuous emissions monitoring system of 
the flue gas.

Emissions data report for 2020
Source Unit Annual quantity Annual tCO2e

LPG L 28975.00 45.07

Red diesel* L 14654.00 39.39

White diesel L 3148.00 8.01

Transit van km 5736.00 1.56

Air conditioning leaks kg 0.00 0.00

Natural gas kWh 148743.00 27.35

SC Electricity kWh 68661.30 16.01

BH Electricity kWh 3897.70 0.91

Water Supply m3 186.00 0.06

Water Sewerage m3 186.00 0.13

Scope 1 tCO2e 121.38

Scope 2 tCO2e 16.92

Scope 3 tCO2e 0.20

Scopes 1 & 2 tCO2e footprint 138.29

Scopes 1, 2 & 3 tCO2e 138.49

1 & 2/FTE tCO2e 1.14

*It is important to note that the site at which our Beta Plant resides is off-grid, thus requiring the 
use of red diesel to generate electricity for the operations at that site.

Life cycle impact category Unit RT7000 Landfill EfW

Global warning potential kg CO2 eq 128.80 21.94 344.14

Eutrophication Kg PO4 eq -0.02 0.95 -0.12

Acidification kg SO2 eq -0.50 0.01 -0.50

Photochemical oxidation kg C2H4 eq -0.04 0.00 -0.02

Terrestrial ecotoxicity kg 1,4-DB eq -0.08 0.05 0.03

Freshwater aquatic toxicity kg 1,4-DB eq 14.12 796.45 286.34

Human toxicity kg 1,4-DB eq -17.36 312.67 129.34

Ozone layer depletion g CFC-11 eq 0.09 0.00 -0.01

Abiotic depletion (fossil) MJ -13332.87 42.16 -1308.28

Abiotic depletion (elements) g Sb eq -0.01 0.00 -0.01

 Functional unit is per barrel of oil equivalent

RT7000 LCA
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Company information

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Directors:

Ms N M Frayne   Mr S P Hodges 
Mr R Jain Mr   A E Griffiths 
Mr P R Turner   Mr G B Bullard 
Mr L D E Hollingworth  Mr S J Dent 
Mr J M Helenius

Registered office:

Hill Barn 
Upper Pavenhill  
Purton  
Swindon  
Wiltshire 
SN5 4DQ

Registered number:

07528795 (England and Wales)

Auditors:

Haines Watts 
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors  
Old Station House 
Station Approach  
Newport Street  
Swindon  
Wiltshire 
SN1 3DU

Report of the Directors

For the year ended 31 December 2020

The directors present their report with the financial statements of the 
company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Events since the end of the year

Information relating to events since the end of the year is given in the notes 
to the financial statements.

Directors

The directors shown below have held office during the whole of the period 
from 1 January 2020 to the date of this report.

Ms N M Frayne   Mr S P Hodges 
Mr R Jain   Mr A E Griffiths 
Mr P R Turner   Mr G B Bullard
Mr L D E Hollingworth

Other changes in directors holding office are as follows:

Mr S J Dent – appointed 26 March 2020

Mr J M Helenius – appointed 26 March 2020
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Report of the Directors and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable 
law), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’. Under company law the 
directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of 
the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; make 
judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that 
are sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company 
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Report of the Directors

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditors

So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as 
defined by Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006) of which the company’s 
auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that he or she 
ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors 
are aware of that information.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 15 of 
the Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies.

On behalf of the Board:

Mr A E Griffiths 
Director 

30 April 2021
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Recycling Technologies Limited 
(the ‘company’) for the year ended 31 December 2020 which comprise the 
Income Statement, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes 
in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and Notes to the Statement of Cash 
Flows, Notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2020 and of its loss for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 in the financial statements, which indicates that 
the company is dependent upon external sources to provide funding. As stated 
in note 2, these events or conditions, along with the other matters as set forth 

in note 2, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is 
not modified in respect of this matter.

Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to note 2 in the financial statements which indicates that 
the Company has capitalised the development of the RT7000, and that it 
does not consider that any asset associated with the RT7000 is impaired. 
The Company is carrying value in respect of the RT7000 within intangible 
assets, tangible assets and current assets. The Company has based these 
policies on transactions that it considers reasonably demonstrate value in the 
technology above and beyond the current carrying values within each of these 
asset categories. The RT7000 remains under development and is based upon 
innovative technology not directly compatible with other recycling operations, 
therefore the quantification of the carrying values remains highly subjective. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information in the Report of the Directors, but does not include 
the financial statements and our Report of the Auditors thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a 
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

• the information given in the Report of the Directors for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements; and

• the Report of the Directors has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified 
material misstatements in the Report of the Directors.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records 
and returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not 
made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit; or

• the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with the small companies regime and take advantage of the 
small companies’ exemption from the requirement to prepare a Strategic 
Report or in preparing the Report of the Directors.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out 
on page two, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for 
assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue a Report of the Auditors that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws 
and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, 
outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, 
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework 
applicable to both the company itself and the industry in which it operates. We 
identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to 
have a material effect on the financial statements from our sector experience 
and through discussion with the directors and other management. The most 
significant were identified as the Companies Act 2006, UK GAAP (FRS102) 
and relevant tax legislation.

We considered the extent of compliance with those laws and regulations 
as part of our procedures on the related financial statements. Our audit 
procedures included:

• making enquires of directors and management as to where they consider 
there to be a susceptibility to fraud and whether they have any knowledge 
or suspicion of fraud;
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• obtaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate 
risks related to fraud or non- compliance with laws and regulations;

• assessing the risk of management override including identifying and testing 
journal entries;

• challenging the assumptions and judgements made by management in its 
significant accounting estimates.

Despite the audit being planned and conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 
there remains an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial 
statements may not be detected owing to inherent limitations of the audit, 
and that by their very nature, any such instances of fraud or irregularity likely 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal controls.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.
org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Report of the 
Auditors.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in a Report of the Auditors 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

Martin S Gurney FCA  
Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of Haines Watts

Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors 
Old Station House 
Station Approach  
Newport Street  
Swindon Wiltshire 
SN1 3DU

6 May 2021
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Income statement  
For the year ended 31 December 2020

       2020 2019

    Notes  £ £
TURNOVER      209,000 4,458,454
Cost of sales      2,498,268 2,548,855
GROSS (LOSS)/PROFIT     (2,289,268) 1,909,599
Administrative expenses       4,229,436   4,181,019
      (6,518,704) (2,271,420)
Other operating income      893,133 470,911
OPERATING LOSS    4  (5,625,571) (1,800,509)
Interest payable and similar expenses    57,993 38,716

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION     (5,683,564) (1,839,225)
Tax on loss      (578,671) (331,729)

LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR      (5,104,893)  (1,507,496)

Statement of financial position 
31 December 2020

      2020  2019

   Notes  £  £
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets   5  1,985,862  4,764
Tangible assets   6  996,346  333,141
Investments   7   10   10
     2,982,218  337,915

CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks     17,146  2,663
Debtors   8  2,864,252  984,591
Cash at bank     4,154,648  2,932,540
     7,036,046  3,919,794
CREDITORS
Amounts falling due within one year  9       1,375,524       1,130,010

NET CURRENT ASSETS    5,660,522  2,789,784
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES   8,642,740  3,127,699

CREDITORS
Amounts falling due after  
more than one year   10  1,298,297   500,000

NET ASSETS         7,344,443      2,627,699

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital     289,997  224,211
Share premium     20,161,033  10,971,182
Retained earnings      (13,106,587)     (8,567,694)
         7,344,443      2,627,699
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The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions applicable to companies subject to the small companies regime.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and 
authorised for issue on 30 April 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Mr A E Griffiths 
Director

Statement of changes in equity  
For the year ended 31 December 2020

     Called up 
    share  Retained Share Total
    capital earnings premium equity
    £ £ £ £

Balance at 1 January 2019   207,430 (7,060,198) 8,471,353 1,618,585

Changes in equity
Issue of share capital    16,781 ― 2,499,829 2,516,610
Total comprehensive loss    ― (1,507,496) ― (1,507,496)
Balance at 31 December 2019    224,211 (8,567,694) 10,971,182 2,627,699

Changes in equity
Issue of share capital    65,786 ― 9,189,851 9,255,637
Total comprehensive loss   ― (5,104,893) ― (5,104,893)
Share-based payments  -     566,000 ― 566,000
Balance at 31 December 2020    289,997  (13,106,587)   20,161,033  7,344,443

Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

       2020 2019

    Notes  £ £
Cash flows from operating activities 
Cash generated from operations   1  (5,821,212) (1,036,507)
Interest paid      (57,993) (38,716)
Tax paid       578,671 331,729
Net cash from operating activities      (5,300,534)     (743,494)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangible fixed assets     (1,994,306) (5,040)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets     (738,689) (670,694)
Purchase of fixed asset investments      ―  (10)
Net cash from investing activities      (2,732,995)     (675,744)

Cash flows from financing activities
Share issue      65,786 16,781
Share premium        9,189,851   2,499,829
Net cash from financing activities       9,255,637   2,516,610

Increase in cash and cash equivalents    1,222,108 1,097,372
Cash and cash equivalents  
at beginning of year    2  2,932,540 1,835,168

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  2     4,154,648    2,932,540
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Notes to the statement of cash flows for the year ended  
31 December 2020

1. Reconciliation of loss for the financial year to cash generated  
from operations
      2020 2019
      £ £
Loss for the financial year     (5,104,893) (1,507,496)
Depreciation charges      88,692 45,555
Loss on disposal of fixed assets     ― 7,314
Share option reserve      566,000 406,703
Finance costs      57,993 38,716
Taxation          (578,671)     (331,729)

      (4,970,879) (1,340,937)
Increase in stocks      (14,483) (2,663)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other debtors    (1,879,661) 23,239
Increase in trade and other creditors       1,043,811  283,854

Cash generated from operations      (5,821,212)  (1,036,507)

2. Cash and cash equivalents

The amounts disclosed on the Statement of Cash Flows in respect of cash 
and cash equivalents are in respect of these Statement of Financial Position 
amounts:

Year ended 31 December 2020 
      31/12/20 1/1/20
      £  £
Cash and cash equivalents     4,154,648 2,932,540

Year ended 31 December 2019 
      31/12/19 1/1/19
      £  £
Cash and cash equivalents      2,932,540 1,835,168

3. Analysis of changes in net funds
     At 1/1/20 Cash flow At 31/12/20
     £ £ £
Net cash 
Cash at bank       2,932,540   1,222,108   4,154,648
       2,932,540   1,222,108   4,154,648

Debt
Debts falling due within 1 year 
     ― (100,000) (100,000)
Debts falling due after 1 year        (500,000)     (435,433)     (935,433)
         (500,000)     (535,433)  (1,035,433)

Total       2,432,540  686,675   3,119,215
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended  
31 December 2020

1. Statutory information

Recycling Technologies Limited is a private company, limited by shares, 
registered in England and Wales. The company’s registered number and 
registered office address can be found on the Company Information page.

2. Accounting policies

Basis of preparing the financial statements

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland” including the provisions of Section 1A “Small 
Entities” and the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention.

Preparation of consolidated financial statements

The financial statements contain information about Recycling Technologies 
Limited as an individual company and do not contain consolidated financial 
information as the parent of a group. The company is exempt under Section 
399(2A) of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirements to prepare 
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern

Currently the business is still within the development phase and therefore is 
primarily dependent on funds received from external investors, supplemented 
with funding from grants, revenue from discrete projects with third party 
customers and Research and Development Tax Credits.

The company has identified its funding requirements to deliver the base 
business plan, covering the build and installation of the first commercial 
scale production unit and further commercialisation of the business including 
the equity funds required to commence two further RT7000 projects, and 

is currently in the process of seeking to secure the circa £40m of additional 
investment identified. A proportion of this additional funding will need to 
be secured in the first half of 2022, at the latest, to ensure sufficient cash 
is available to provide the minimum required working capital to sustain the 
business beyond this point. This funding is being sought from a number of 
potential sources and whilst this additional funding is not yet committed, 
discussions with a number of potential providers are in progress and the 
directors believe they have sufficient cash resources on hand to conclude the 
fundraising in good time before the end of the cash runway.

The Directors have also considered the impact of COVID-19 on the going 
concern assumption. The COVID- 19 viral pandemic is one of the most 
significant global economic events with unprecedented levels of uncertainty 
of outcomes. It is therefore difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications 
on the company’s activities, suppliers, customers and strategic partners and 
the wider economy in the UK and internationally. However, the Company has 
specifically considered potential time delays to key projects and other cost 
implications in developing the business plan and funding requirements. To the 
extent there are further unexpected delays to the planned roll out of the first 
commercial scale unit as a result of COVID-19 this will potentially increase the 
cost to deliver the project, but the directors believe reasonable allowances 
have been made in assessing the level of funding currently being sought.

Based on the above, the Directors consider that the company is a going 
concern and the accounts have been prepared on this basis.

Turnover

Turnover is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable for goods supplied and services rendered, net of discounts and 
Value Added Tax.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have transferred to the buyer (usually on despatch of 
the goods); the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; it is probable 
that the associated economic benefits will flow to the entity; and the costs 
incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transactions can be measured 
reliably.
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Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised in the period in 
which the services are provided in accordance with the stage of completion of 
the contract.

Other Operating Income

Revenue from grants is recognised in the period in which the grant conditions 
are satisfied.

RT7000 machine

The company is developing a modular and mass-producible machine, 
the RT7000, to turn hard-to-recycle plastic waste into a valuable chemical 
feedstock (Plaxx), which can be used to make virgin-quality plastic products. 
The RT7000 asset being developed is considered to comprise two elements:

• Cost of development of the commercial scale technology, including design, 
construction and testing of new components which represent key elements 
of the Company’s proprietary Intellectual Property (Intangible Asset - 
RT7000 development costs)

• Cost of physical equipment installed on site (Tangible fixed asset)

Intangible assets

In accordance with FRS 102, the company only recognises an intangible asset 
as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that the expected future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost or 
value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost. After initial recognition, 
intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.

 (i)  Software: Computer software is being amortised evenly over its 
estimated useful life of five years.

 (ii)  Development Costs: The company recognises an intangible asset 
arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal 
project) if, and only if, all of the following can be demonstrated:

  (a)  The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it 
will be available for use or sale.

  (b) Its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it.
  (c) Its ability to use or sell the intangible asset.
  (d)  How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic 

benefits.
  (e)  The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources 

to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset.
  (f)  Its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the 

intangible asset during its development.

Expenditure not meeting the above criteria for capitalisation is expenses 
as incurred. The expenditure being incurred on the first RT7000 machine 
is considered development activity which now meets the criteria for 
capitalisation as the Board believe the technology is now sufficiently 
advanced to be deployable at commercial scale, consider that sufficient 
resources will be available to realise value from the developed RT7000 
technology and generate future economic benefits as there is now reasonable 
evidence that a market for the RT7000 technology exists, as specifically 
addressed in the Impairment Accounting Policy.

Accordingly, the above criteria are considered to have been met in respect of 
the RT7000 technology and therefore it is being capitalised as an intangible 
asset under “RT7000 development costs”. Other R&D activities being 
undertaken by the company, including resources consumed in research 
and development on the Beta Plant, are not considered to meet the above 
recognition criteria for capitalisation and therefore regardless of their intrinsic 
nature (i.e. capital or revenue), are being written off to the profit and loss 
account as they arise.

RT7000 development costs are not being amortised until the asset is in use. 
It will then be amortised evenly over the estimated useful life which is not 
expected to exceed 20 years.
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Tangible fixed assets

Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates in order to write off each 
asset over its estimated useful life.

Plant & Machinery 10% straight line
Fixtures & Fittings 20% straight line
Motor vehicles  20% straight line

Impairment

In accordance with FRS 102, all assets are considered for impairment on an 
annual basis and the carrying value reduced to the recoverable amount of the 
asset, where necessary, by way of recording an impairment provision.

Specifically, in respect of assets associated with the development of the 
RT7000 technology, given the inherent uncertainty regarding operating 
performance of the first RT7000 machine, and in particular the lack of 
availability of corroborating third party data to support internal forecasts, it is 
not considered practicable at this point to assess recoverable amount based 
on a value-in-use calculations using a discounted cash flow model. Therefore, 
impairment of the RT7000 development costs, and associated prepayments, 
has only been considered on the basis of assessing fair value less costs to sell.

Given the overwhelming focus of the Company is on the development of the 
RT7000 commercial scale technology, and the current business plan is solely 
based on its commercial deployment through either own use or machine 
sales, evidence regarding the fair value of the RT7000 development costs 
asset is considered to primarily come from the substantial investment in the 
Company made by a knowledgeable investor from within the petrochemical 
sector at a Company valuation significantly in excess of the net asset value. 
Further comfort is also drawn from the previous sale of a license to use 
the developed technology at large scale and market valuations of listed 
competitors.

Having considered the above sources of evidence regarding the fair value of 
the commercial scale technology developed by the company, the Directors do 
not consider there to be any impairment in the carrying value of the RT7000 
development costs , or associated prepayments, recorded as at 31 December 

2020, as this carrying value is significantly below what is considered to be 
the supported fair value of the assets and the corresponding developed 
technology .

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are recognised at cost.

Stocks & work in progress

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to 
complete and sell.

Costs include all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs 
incurred in bringing stock to its present location and condition.

Work in progress is valued on the basis of direct costs plus attributable 
overheads based on normal level of activity. Provision is made for any 
foreseeable losses where appropriate. An element of profit is included where 
the outcome of the project may reasonably be determined.

Taxation

Taxation for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in 
the Income Statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Current tax is recognised at the amount of tax payable using the tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of 
financial position date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have 
originated but not reversed at the statement of financial position date.

Timing differences arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax 
assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in 
financial statements. Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that 
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have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year end and that are 
expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of 
deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Hire purchase and leasing commitments

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight 
line basis over the period of the lease.

Pension costs and other post-retirement benefits

The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions 
payable to the company’s pension scheme are charged to profit or loss in the 
period to which they relate.

3. Employees and directors

The average number of employees during the year was 101 (2019 - 73).

4. Operating loss 
The operating loss is stated after charging: 
      2020 2019
      £ £
Depreciation - owned assets      75,484 45,279
Computer software amortisation      13,208  276

5. Intangible fixed assets  
     RT7000  Total
     development  intangible
     costs Software assets
     £ £ £
COST
At 1 January 2020     ― 5,040 5,040
Additions      1,857,809 136,497  1,994,306
At 31 December 2020      1,857,809  141,537  1,999,346

AMORTISATION
At 1 January 2020     ― 276 276
Charge for year   -   ― 13,208 13,208
At 31 December 2020   -   ―  13,484  13,484

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2020      1,857,809 128,053  1,985,862
At 31 December 2019      ― 4,764 4,764

The brought forward cost for RT7000 development costs is presented net of 
£415,503 of cumulative impairment (2019: £415,503). In accordance with the 
Company’s accounting policy on impairment, intangible assets are considered 
for impairment on an annual basis. Having undertaken this assessment 
no further impairment is considered necessary in the current year, refer to 
“Accounting policies - Impairment” for further details.
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6. Tangible fixed assets
     Fixtures
    Plant and and Motor
    machinery fittings vehicles Totals
    £ £ £ £

COST
At 1 January 2020    223,757 155,378 13,000 392,135
Additions     657,570 81,119 ―  738,689

At 31 December 2020     881,327  236,497  13,000 1,130,824

DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2020    11,437 40,190 7,367 58,994
Charge for year     34,539 38,345 2,600  75,484

At 31 December 2020     45,976  78,535 9,967  134,478

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2020     835,351 157,962  3,033  996,346

At 31 December 2019     212,320 115,188  5,633  333,141

In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy on impairment, tangible 
fixed assets are considered for impairment on an annual basis. Having 
undertaken this assessment no impairment is considered necessary in the 
current year, refer to “Accounting policies - Impairment” for further details.

7. Fixed asset investments
       Shares in 
       group 
       undertaking
       £

COST
At 1 January 2020
and 31 December 2020        10

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2020        10

At 31 December 2019        10

The company holds 100% of the issued share capital of Recycling 
Technologies (Scotland) Limited, a company incorporated in Scotland and 
Recycling Technologies B.V, a company incorporated in The Netherlands.

8. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
      2020 2019
      £ £
Trade debtors      373 ―
Other debtors        2,863,879 984,591

        2,864,252 984,591

Included within other debtors is an amount of £724,829 (2019: £18,679) in 
prepayments relating to stage payments paid as deposits on equipment 
ordered (not delivered) for the build of the first RT7000 machine. The 
prepayments at year end have been made on equipment with a total order 
value of £1.7M (2019: £186,786).
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In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy on impairment, debtors 
are considered for impairment on an annual basis. Having undertaken this 
assessment no impairment is considered necessary in the current year, refer 
to “Accounting policies - Impairment” for further details.

9. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
      2020 2019
      £ £

Bank loans and overdrafts     100,000 ―
Trade creditors      272,339 439,319
Taxation and social security     149,484 88,363 
Other creditors       853,701 602,328

      1,375,524 1,130,010

10. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
      2020 2019
      £ £
Bank loans      935,433 500,000
Other creditors       362,864 ―

        1,298,297 500,000

11. Deferred tax

At the year end the company had tax losses carried forwards of £11.7m. The 
company has not provided for the £2.2m deferred tax asset that results from 
these losses.

12. Restricted funds

Included within the value of cash held at bank is £196,484 (2019: £375,273) 
which relates to funding from the Growing Places Infrastructure Fund, which 
is restricted under the Loan Agreement to use on capital assets purchased 
for the manufacturing and R&D laboratory facilities at the Companies Stirling 
Court site in Swindon.

13. Related party disclosures

In the opinion of the directors, no one individual controls the company.

During the period, the following transactions took place with directors and 
their connected parties:

AEG (UK) Limited (a shareholder and a company controlled by a director) 
charged consultancy services to Recycling Technologies Limited of £10,008 
(2019: £10,008). £1,001 was outstanding at the period end (2019: £1,001).

Parkinson Management Limited has undertaken business development 
work for the company on a contingent fee basis. The phased contingency 
fees potentially payable under this arrangement amount to a maximum of 
£72,500, that maximum sum only becoming payable in the event of three 
specified contracts all reaching financial close by 30 June 2021, having an 
estimated value to the company in excess of £10m. As at the year end, none 
of the conditions triggering a liability for any of these fees had been met, and 
therefore no amounts have been included in the accounts in this respect. 
Consultancy services were charged by Parkinson Management Limited to the 
company during the year of £3,200 (2019: £3,200).

A consultancy agreement exists between the company and Marcian Limited 
(company number:11496029), of which a director is Managing Director, under 
which the director will undertake activities which can be varied by agreement 
but will include providing support for entering into a strategic partnership with 
the petrochemical industry. Consultancy services and expenses of £36,528 
(2019: £36,000) were charged during the financial year. £3,600 was accrued 
at the period end (2019: £3,600). The agreement was ended effective 31st 
January 2021.
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14. Post balance sheet events

On 13 January 2021 the Company entered into a convertible loan note funding 
agreement with Neste OYJ (“Neste”), Althelia Sustainable Ocean Fund 
SICAV-SIF (“SOF”) and UK FF Nominees Limited (“Future Fund”) under 
the UK Government’s Future Fund programme for a total combined loan of 
£8,000,000.

The key terms are as follows:

(i)   Interest Rate: Simple interest 8 per cent. per annum to roll up and 
be paid on maturity/ conversion. Any interest accrued only becomes 
payable on an event of default (as such term is defined in the CLA) or 
on conversion.

(ii)   Security: The loan is unsecured and ranks equally with all unsecured 
debt.

(iii)  Maturity Date: Maximum of 36 months.
(iv)  Conversion: The loan will convert as follows:
    a)  automatically on the next “qualifying funding round” into the 

most senior class of equity, which is an equity funding where the 
business raises at least £8,000,000; or

    b)  at the election of the loan note holders into the most senior class of 
equity, on any non-qualifying round.

(v)   Conversion Price: This will be set by reference to the price of the fund-
raising which triggers conversion with the Discount Rate (see below) 
applied.

(vi)  Discount Rate: 20% to the price of the funding round triggering 
conversion. On conversion, only the principal of the loan will attract the 
discount rate. Any accrued interest element will not benefit from the 
discount.

(vii)   Valuation Cap: We have agreed a pre-money valuation cap. The effect 
of the valuation cap is such that if the price per share which results from 
dividing the valuation cap by the number of shares comprised in the 
fully diluted share capital is lower than the price per share applying the 
Discount Rate, the Conversion price will be equal to such lower price.

(viii)   Repayment: Can occur at maturity if there has been no conversion 
event, or under some circumstances in the event of an exit. If the loan 
is repaid by the Company, it attracts a redemption premium being a 
premium equal to 100% of the principal committed.

(ix)   Covenants: The Company will be subject to on-going covenants for so 
long as the loan remains outstanding or the Future Fund holds shares 
in the capital of the Company which include, but are not limited to, 
taking on further indebtedness without prior consent and providing 
information requested.
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15. Share-based payments
 EMI USOS Warrant
  2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Bought forward  1,372,761 1,360,627 3,673,899 3,584,492 350,000 350,000
Granted  738,327 78,858 ―  89,407 ―
Exercised  ― ― (325,351) ― ― ―
Lapsed  (74,091) (66,724) ―  ― ―

Transfer out ― ― ― ― ― ― ―
Transfer in ― ― ― ― ― ― ―

Total    2,036,997    1,372,761   3,348,547   3,673,899   350,000     350,000  
Exercisable
at year end ― ― ― ― ― ― ―

The company has established an Enterprise Management Incentive (EMI) 
share option scheme with an exercise price of £0.01 - £1.50 per share.

Whilst the precise vesting conditions differ between iterations of the EMI 
scheme operated by the company, these vesting conditions include:

• the company being listed with eligible exchanges being defined in the 
particular scheme rules, which in all instances includes the AIM market 
operated by the London Stock Exchange plc

• sale of the company

• a management buyout of the entire share capital of the company
• change of control
• disposal of all or a substantial part of the business and assets of the group
• In some circumstances at the discretion of the board

In addition, some EMI options include a time-based vesting condition and vest 
on the earlier of the completion of the service period or the occurrence of an 
event as listed above.

Vested EMI options can be exercised up to 10 years from the date of the grant. 
A charge of £303,000 has been booked in the current year in relation to EMI 

share options which have a time-based vesting condition. The fair value of the 
options used for accounting purposes in this calculation has been estimated 
using a Black Scholes options pricing model. No charge was recognised in the 
prior year as it was assessed as immaterial. No charge has been recognised 
for options with event-based vesting only, as none of the vesting triggers set 
out above are currently considered probable Options generally lapse if the 
employee leaves the company before the options vest.

During 2016 the company issued warrants for 350,000 Ordinary Shares at 
a price of £0.03 per share, pursuant to a warrant in favour of Mr Damian 
Tuite. These warrants were issued in connection with the termination of the 
subscription and shareholders’ agreement between the Company and its 
shareholders dated 30 May 2014.

The company has established an Unapproved Share Option Scheme (USOS) 
with an exercise price of £0.01 per share.

Whilst the precise exercise conditions differ between iterations of the USOS 
scheme operated by the company, these exercise conditions include:

• the company being listed with eligible exchanges being defined in the 
particular scheme rules, which in all instances includes the AIM market 
operated by the London Stock Exchange plc

• sale of the company
• change of control
• disposal of all or a substantial part of the business and assets of the group
• winding up of the company
• the Longstop date, being either 10 years from the date the scheme was 

created or the grant of the option- at the discretion of the Board (for some 
options only)

A charge of £22,000 has been booked in the current year in relation to USOS 
share options that were allowed to be exercised in the year at the discretion 
of the Board. A charge of £241,000 has also been booked in the current year in 
relation to unexercised USOS share options, as the exercise of these options 
at their Longstop date is now considered probable. Of this charge, £174,000 
relates to a catch up from prior years following a change of accounting 
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estimate. In previous years, no charge was recognised as the exercise of the 
options was not considered probable.

The fair value of the options used for accounting purposes in this calculation 
has been estimated using a Black Scholes options pricing model, with the 
accounting charge spread from the date of grant to the Longstop date for the 
option.

Details of the number of EMI share options and weighted average exercise 
price (WAEP) outstanding during the period are as follows:

   Net number of
 Exercise price Scheme shares issued Dec-2020 Dec-2019
 £   £  £
 0.01 EMI 738,327 7,383
 0.30 EMI 33,333 10,000 10,000
 0.35 EMI 94,285 33,000 33,000
 0.45 EMI 516,665 232,499 232,499
 0.50 EMI 124,620 62,310 72,310
 1.10 EMI 497,132 546,845 606,345
 1.50 EMI  32,635 48,953    48,953

   2,036,997 940,990 1,003,107

   WAEP £0.462 £0.731

16. Leasing agreements
      Non-cancellable
      operating leases
      2020 2019
      £ £
Within one year      182,629 166,335
Between one and five years      432,015 598,350

       614,644 764,685

The total non-cancellable operating leases as at 31/12/2020 relate mainly 
to the rental of premises at Stirling Court, Swindon under a 10 year lease 
agreement, at an annual rent of £166,335. This lease agreement has an option 
to terminate the lease in August 2023, with a penalty charge of 6 months rent.
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